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PROLOGUE

1838

Everyone said they had never seen London so crowded. On the day before Queen Victoria’s coronation it was not just a case of a mob here or there, but a mob seething everywhere; jostling, staring, marvelling aloud at everything and nothing. Flags flew from makeshift poles on roofs, out of windows and above a vast encampment of tents in Hyde Park, where a firework display was planned for the following night, followed by a grand fair. The fashionable world, while just as excited as everyone else and determined not miss a single opportunity for showing off its jewels and robes of state, pretended that so much uproar was uncommonly tiresome, but the queen was not so hypocritical.

Nineteen-year-old Victoria was enjoying every moment of this most glittering of seasons. She had already attended three State balls, two levées, a drawing-room and a State concert, and only regretted that she had not been able to waltz, since there was no one whose arm was considered fit to encircle the royal waist. This in spite of guest lists being ruthlessly scoured for any scent of trade, which, among others, led to the Rothschilds being excluded. Now the time for her coronation had come.


Next day, Victoria woke early, when guns in the park fired salutes at four o’clock in the morning. Unable to get to sleep again for the bustle and blare of soldiers and military bands marching past, she was soon peeping at the crowds from behind her bedroom curtains.1 No previous sovereign had ever looked out on this scene. In 1838 Buckingham Palace was new, the landscaping in St James’s Park was new, the ceremonial arch outside the palace was new. Only at the last moment had someone thought to try whether the State coach would fit through its centre span, only to discover that it stuck ignominiously. There had not been time to demolish the offending object out of sight, although a pitch would eventually be found for it at the end of Oxford Street, where, with its name changed to Marble Arch, it continued its career of impeding the traffic for no particular reason; a monument to the fact that even eminent architects make silly mistakes.


The coronation route was also new, a roundabout way decided on by the cabinet in the hope that it would be to their political advantage if the young queen was seen by as many of her subjects as possible. Perhaps no institution is quite so finely tuned to public sentiment as an unpopular government, and Lord Melbourne’s administration had seized gratefully on the chance to gain badly needed credit from a great national occasion. Generous sums were voted to make this coronation unusually splendid, squabbles over the scandalously insanitary condition of the queen’s recently completed palace forgotten, and matched cream horses solicited as a gift from Hanover to draw her gold State coach, since Lord Melbourne declared that anything less would look like rats in harness.2



But contradictions still abounded and the day started badly for the aristocracy, who rose before dawn to dress in antique finery only to find Westminster Abbey still locked and dark. A growing throng of irascible nobility shivered in a drizzling wind for nearly an hour before the keys were found. A good few hip-flasks were probably swigged to keep out the cold and a picnic atmosphere soon developed inside the abbey, from which the decorum of the day never quite recovered. These were people whom inter-marriage had interlocked for generations and to them, coronations were tribal occasions.

Those who had endured the earlier rigours of the day made their own entertainment out of the later, official arrivals; clapping and shouting if a country or its representative was popular, preserving a daunting silence if not. When Prince Esterhazy appeared he was dressed in such oriental splendour he was said to look as if he had been caught in a shower of diamonds, while old Marshal Soult, special envoy from France and veteran of Napoleon’s wars, was overcome by the cheers which followed him down the aisle, and burst into tears.
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Life around the Court became much more ceremonial during Victoria’s reign, and the surroundings of Buckingham Palace were improved to provide a backdrop to her empire. (Illustrated London News, 1856)

As the morning wore on, wind and rain gave way to bright sunshine. ‘Queen’s weather’ these lucky changes would come to be called, because Victoria so often enjoyed them in the future, and the onlookers thronging the processional route revelled in it. ‘The crowds of people exceeded anything I have ever seen,’ Victoria wrote afterwards. ‘Their good humour and loyalty was beyond everything, and I really cannot say how proud I am to be Queen of such a nation.’3

She was as gay as a lark, one observer commented, laughing like a girl on her birthday as she drove past him. Some of her entourage felt that a properly bred queen should not enjoy herself quite so obviously on a day of sacramental significance, and there were other ruffled sensibilities too. The Duke of Albemarle, for instance, had claimed the right as Master of the Horse to sit beside her on that triumphal drive, and was still smarting from a crushing snub administered by the Duke of Wellington. He had roundly told Albemarle to do as he was told, since the queen could if she pleased make him run behind her coach like a tinker’s dog.4 This, for a constitutional monarch, was certainly untrue and not language a fellow duke readily accepted.

But however sulky Albemarle felt, the crowds remained good-natured, enthusiastic and orderly, though it was less than five years since the previous king, William IV, had leaned out of his carriage to spit at a crowd which failed to cheer him. Victoria’s youth and her feminity were both the cause of and served to underline this change in feeling. ‘We have got a shabby kind of family to rule over us,’ Boswell had once remarked about the Hanoverians,5 and now quite visibly it was shabby no longer. Victoria on her coronation day was resplendent, joyful, girlishly innocent; a new age seemed to ride beside her in the golden coach.

Once she reached the abbey she became dignified and solemn, the scene sufficiently spectacular to make even a queen falter for a moment. The old grey building blazed with colour; from banners, clothes, and carpets. Stars glittered from precious plate on the altar and the copes worn by the bishops had been embroidered for the coronation of James I more than two hundred years before.

As she moved down the aisle, the sun struck through the windows high above Victoria’s head to play with extraordinary effect on the quantities of jewellery worn by the packed congregation, splitting light into prisms and rainbows which broke like spray as the lines of people turned to bow and curtsy as she passed. The men wore more exotic colours than the women: scarlet, blue and gold for the military and crimson for the peers, while representatives from the Empire and the world appeared in every shade imaginable, studded by precious stones as large as eggs.

If the queen briefly trembled at such a sight, the effect she produced on a sceptical and hardened audience was astonishing. Her diminutive size and instinctive poise, when surrounded by such a vastness of worldly pomp, seemed to overwhelm them all. Attended by ten unmarried girls as trainbearers, she seemed to float down the aisle towards the altar in an ethereal, shining cloud. ‘Everyone gasped for breath,’ wrote one onlooker.6 ‘The rails of the gallery where I sat trembled from the grasp of a hundred trembling hands. I never saw anything like it. Tears would have been a relief.’

Only the passion aroused by the coronation of Charles II, when a congregation in this same abbey had celebrated the restored mystery of monarchy itself, may have exceeded it in intensity. Yet no one could subsequently describe exactly what it was they had felt. Not patriotism exactly, nor spiritual dedication; not poignant sorrow at the sight of a young girl faced by a crushing burden, nor awe for an ancient office. A mixture of all these and more besides; pure emotion, unforgettable in its impact.

Such intensity lasted only a few moments. Almost at once the queen needed to mind her feet, in danger of tripping as her unpractised trainbearers tangled her robe with theirs, while young Mr Disraeli unkindly noted that Lord Melbourne, prime minister and leader of the party Disraeli intended one day to oust from power, looked very uncouth with his coronet tipped over his nose and wrestling with the sword of state like a butcher wielding a cleaver.

So far as Melbourne was concerned, he found the sword so heavy he hardly knew how to keep hold of it, but apart from this the service remained for him a highly emotional drama. He had plunged into a relationship with the queen which alarmed and amused all social London, offering a hatful of opportunities for malice: part fatherly, partly the infatuation of an elderly roué grasping at a last chance to charm youth, and partly born of the very real need to educate a naive girl in the realities of power. Cynical and disillusioned old Whig that he was, Melbourne would struggle against tears for most of the five-hour service.
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A new State Ballroom was added in the 1850s, and the kitchens were at last moved on to the ground floor from the basement, although working conditions for staff remained very bleak. (Illustrated London News, 1856)

Unfortunately, neither he nor anyone else had thought that a rehearsal of the highly complex ceremony might be desirable, and the clergy soon plunged into disarray. The Bishop of Durham thrust the orb at the queen at quite the wrong moment before disappearing entirely at a time when his presence was urgently required; the Archbishop of Canterbury became so confused that the queen could distinctly be heard asking what she should do next as none of the bishops knew, and when he brought forward the Ring of State, crushed it on the wrong finger despite her protests, making her nearly scream with pain.

The enthronement and homage followed, these most solemn moments spoiled by an undignified scramble in the congregation to snatch one of the commemorative medals thrown among them by the Lord Chamberlain. Even the queen’s maids of honour abandoned their posts by her side to rush down into the nave. After the service Melbourne asked the queen whether it was true that her trainbearers had chattered throughout the ceremony, and if so did she hear them? With grim brevity Victoria inscribed her reply in her journal, ‘I said they did, & I heard them’.7

She was even more distracted by the applause which again broke out as the peers came forward to offer their individual homage, and could not help noting who obtained enthusiastic claps and who did not. The greatest sensation was provided by Lord Rolle, who fell down the steps and whose efforts to recover were accompanied by the kind of encouragement more commonly reserved for the hunting field. Victoria gracefully resolved that particular difficulty by descending the steps to meet him herself, a gesture which again touched most people’s sensibility, though one bitchy lady remarked that if she had helped an old man no one would think twice about it.

When the service resumed, the clergy, who might profitably have used the time to study the next section in their prayer books, were even more at a loss than before and the Bishop of Bath and Wells abruptly brought the proceedings to a close. The queen retired to Edward the Confessor’s chapel, and in consternation the sub-dean went to enquire if her majesty was ill only to be told that everything was over. He remained convinced that it was not, and after a pause established that Bath and Wells had turned over two pages by mistake. Characteristically, Lord Melbourne considered that this did not matter;8 he was worn out from carrying the Sword of State around and badly needed some of the refreshment laid out in the chapel. But the sub-dean was adamant: the service must be finished. So the queen returned and the ceremony proceeded to its finale; the choir sang the Hallelujah Chorus and she was able to withdraw again to the chapel. ‘Although anything more unlike a chapel you never saw,’ Melbourne remarked, in approbation rather than any spirit of criticism. ‘The altar was quite covered with sandwiches and bottles of wine.’9

A considerable delay followed while the queen’s hand was soaked in ice-water before the Ring of State could be pulled off, during which time those around her ate and drank heartily, although glasses appear to have been somewhat lacking. One peer was observed drinking champagne out of a pewter flowerpot.

About 4.30 p.m. the queen re-entered the State coach, holding the orb and sceptre and wearing the lighter-weight crown especially made for her. This included among its jewels the ruby worn by Henry V at Agincourt, a sapphire taken by James II when he fled to France but subsequently and acrimoniously repurchased by the British government, and another said to have been taken from the finger of Edward the Confessor when he was exhumed from his tomb in this same abbey some seven hundred years before. Since the exhumation was intended to prove that his flesh remained uncorrupted, a recognized first step to sainthood, the chroniclers are vague over the result of their diggings, but there was Edward’s purported sapphire in Victoria’s crown all those centuries later.

The queen took another hour and half to drive back to Buckingham Palace, while the bells of London pealed and guns fired. The crowds were even denser and more enthusiastic than before, the queen’s response a flawless blend of dignity and warmth. Only an unrepentant radical like Harriet Martineau stood out against the tide of feeling, complaining that the coronation service had confused royalty with the Almighty, and attempted to endow a mere queen with divinity. The whole thing made her feel tired.10

Eventually the crowds dispersed, many of them to enjoy the firework display in Hyde Park, which was so spectacular that one small child later likened it to the destruction of Sodom and Gomorrah. The queen decided to give her dog a bath before watching such fireworks as she might see from her window; a guard came to lock the crown safely away, and Lord Melbourne took too large a dose of laudanum to help him through the State banquet shortly to follow, which violently disagreed with him. As for Buckingham Palace, that new centrepiece for royal pageantry, it soon settled back into slovenly discomfort.

Nevertheless, 28 June 1838 remained a day people remembered. Perhaps with that same nameless tingle of emotion, or nostalgic regret because the sunlit promise of a new age remained for so many a nightmare of squalor and despair. Perhaps with laughter, recalling absurdities, or anger because privilege, precedent and fantasy remained entrenched at the core of the nation at a time when confident innovation swept aside so much that people had previously taken for granted, good and bad together.

But in a strange way, many of the struggles and issues which would trouble Queen Victoria’s subjects during her reign were already starkly mirrored within her own household of Buckingham Palace, where the chimneys were so badly designed that small girls – even frailer than the boys and better able to negotiate a lethally intricate labyrinth of flues – were said to be used to clean them.

This is the story of a site. A hexagonal stretch of swamp and forest which on the day of Victoria’s coronation became the ceremonial heart of the largest empire the world had ever seen. Forty acres of prime development land which somehow had escaped London’s sprawl and remained a single entity in private hands; only its most recent history was royal. A rural site protected by water, within strolling distance of the social, political and ecclesiastical centres of the nation, it is a site we think we know, but in reality do not know at all.

Its past owners and occupants are unexpected: soldiers in barracks, harlots in a garden, a witch in her hut, the many fraudsters who fought and schemed to build there.

This site shimmers with ghosts, and now nobody remembers them any more. Does it matter if they are forgotten? Probably not. But like Queen Victoria, in their time they too were often symbols, and reflected events with the same enjoyable twist of exaggeration which comes from living beside the axis of a nation. In this one central place they gather to form an image of all our pasts, sometimes starved or tragic, more often swaggering and deceitful, hilariously frivolous, light-hearted with love. Like dreams focused and refocused, those past scenes merge with the present and its ghosts exist again.
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CHAPTER 1

A Frontier of Empire

The earliest glimpse of the palace site occurs in connection with the second Roman invasion of Britain, nearly two thousand years ago. In the first expedition Julius Caesar was forced to retreat after reaching the Thames, and once he had gone Britain was left to its own devices for nearly another hundred years. The palace land then was a secret place, caught between marsh and ancient forest, intersected by pools and springs and tiny trails. A single path emerged out of the trees, to curl through undergrowth until it reached a steep-sided stream at a point where its bank had been worn down to make the crossing easy. From there, a causeway probably led out across marshland, marked by driven poles because whenever the floods came it disappeared completely.1 This causeway would have been a ramshackle affair, zig-zagging wherever gravel banks offered a foothold above the bog, and reached southwards to the Thames.

These long ages of isolation were abruptly shattered when, in AD 43, four Roman legions landed at Richborough in Kent, prepared for a full campaign. Their commander, Aulus Plautius, was tough. He was also angry. His men had mutinied rather than embark for Britain, a place, they said, renowned only for its evil; where magicians tore out the entrails of living men and drank their blood. To add to Plautius’s humiliation, it had not been his threats which eventually forced the legionaries to march down to the boats, but the taunts of a Greek freedman called (of all things) Narcissus, a creature of the Emperor Claudius. And if Claudius was enough to turn any soldier’s stomach, Narcissus was worse.

Now that his men had finally braved the passage and disembarked, Plautius was determined to drive them to success. Unfortunately, Claudius needed a glittering victory just as much as his general did, and had sent orders that once this was assured he personally would travel from Rome to lead his troops. It was up to Plautius to judge when this moment had arrived. If he followed his military instincts and routed the Britons as and when the chance arose, Claudius would revenge himself on a general who had stolen his glory; if he sent for the Emperor too early, a fool like Claudius was bound to foul up the whole campaign by taking command while there was real soldiering to be done.2
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Sketch showing approximate topography around Thorney Island, later to become known as Westminster, first century AD.

When the legionaries eventually slithered off the North Downs and into the flood plain of the Thames, the river looked very different from today. Then it was neither embanked nor dredged, and spread over a much greater area; even in summer, marshland stretched widely on either side. A formidable barrier, where the Britons were certain to stand and fight. Aulus Plautius had collected all the intelligence he could about the Thames, the largest natural defence before he could march on the south-eastern tribal capital at Colchester, and he knew that a crossing place existed. A later Roman historian even mentioned a bridge, but no evidence has been found to support this and it is likely he misunderstood the evidence he handled.



Where was the ford that Plautius’s men found? It used to be thought that the Romans crossed the Thames near where they would later build a bridge, at the north end of which Londinium, the City of London, grew. Modern archeology points to Westminster as the likelier site, where the pattern of early tracks suggests that a crossing predated the invasion. The earliest Roman roads, too, reinforce this evidence.

Probably somewhere in the region of the Elephant & Castle, Plautius’s men squelched through pools making their preparations for assault, often glancing in fear or eagerness to where the enemy waited on the opposite bank. Among the legionaries were some Batavii from the Lower Rhine, a more hostile place than this; in their homeland, wetlands spread for hundreds of miles around what today is the centre of industrial Europe. Then, an infinity of fenland stretched from the Ruhr into modern Holland, and the native Batavii spent more of their lives on or under the water than they did on dry land.

These were the men Plautius sent forward under cover of darkness to find and measure and assess the ford he had to use, if he was to have any hope of clinching this campaign in a single season.

And while everyone else waited, even across such a width of water it was possible to see that the opposite bank was so cut up by rivulets that the ford emerged on to a triangular islet, perhaps half a mile wide and surrounded by swamp. Beyond that triangle, a single causeway wound away into the distance, the stakes marking its course just visible if gulls sat on top. On the Roman side, speculation must have centred on the advantages such a constricted battlefield offered, if only they could succeed in fighting their way ashore. The Britons were crammed together even before the battle started, shouting defiance and getting their chariots stuck on the boggy foreshore. They would not find it easy to launch their tactical speciality in such conditions: reckless charges which in the heat of action helped their warriors to disregard even mortal wounds. And if they were forced to retreat, that single exit offered the hope of turning victory into a slaughter which might destroy all further will to fight again.

The principal British chiefs were Caradoc and Togodumnus, and they led a mixed array of footmen and chariot-fighters. Their men were largely Celts who had absorbed an older culture still, and the Romans had learned to their cost elsewhere in Europe that Celts fought like rabid wolves. They loved to fight. If other enemies were lacking, they fought for the pleasure of it among themselves. While this may have honed their skills in battle, it also fuelled bitter hatreds between tribes, and the force the Romans faced was by no means disciplined or unified.

Nevertheless, they made a terrifying sight as the sunlight flashed on the gold ornaments their chieftains wore, on spears and the blades fixed to the wheels of their chariots. Defiant shouts and weird brayings floated across the water and all that restless, bold stir of colour left no doubt in anyone’s mind that the British yearned to make the river run red with Roman blood.

The Celts were taller and fairer on average than the majority of men in the legions, and some warriors stiffened their hair into spikes with lime or dung to frighten their enemies more. They liked bright colours and display, but were said to strip naked for battle and paint themselves blue with magic able to turn the edge of a driven sword. Romans were superstitious at the best of times, and the mutiny before embarkation had a great deal to do with the soldiers’ dread that Celts could control the supernatural.

In reality, most of the Britons awaiting battle on the far bank of Thames probably wore skin trousers, a tunic and cloak, often clasped with the curved brooches they were skilled in making. They looked forward to an exceptionally promising fight, but understood that they lacked the weaponry of the Romans. Body-armour was rare among them and their throwing spears and thin-bladed swords were unsuited to close combat with heavy infantry. To many, this genuinely may not have mattered much. They possessed significant advantage of position and fought for honour, lacking the concept of total conquest that the Romans cherished. Anything approaching national resistance would take time and other circumstances to develop.

As soon as the Batavii brought back the information Plautius needed, the battle began. There was no point in waiting, while his legionaries camped in such discomfort that each day a little of their courage leaked away. Besides, there remained the Emperor’s order to send word for him to come and take command before the campaign ended. A pampered court might take weeks, if not months, to travel from Italy to Boulogne, and then on to Britain. There was even a rumour that Claudius intended to bring elephants with him, to terrify the Britons and act as a stage from which to acknowledge his triumph. Loading those on unseaworthy cross-channel barges in a gale did not bear thinking about, when a single drowned beast could cost Plautius his career.

The assault did not go well. Probably the Second Legion spearheaded it, a formation whose commander, Vespanianus (later the Emperor Vespasian), was known for his flair and steadiness in attack. Vespasian was the son of that first-century rarity, an honest tax collector. Much later, he was nearly executed for dozing off during one of Nero’s stupefying bouts of self-glorification; contemporaries described him as deliberate, a good organizer, and, less flatteringly, looking as if he suffered from permanent constipation, with his face screwed up in folds.

Once he and his men started to cross the Thames, they confronted a nightmarish situation which gave all the advantages to the British. Plautius’s staff must have found it extraordinarily difficult to keep the forward movement orderly; the troops would be tense, grumbling over inevitable snarl-ups as they shuffled slowly forward, held up by the narrowness of the ford. Centurions prowled up and down the lines, lashing out with their staffs if any man broke order, and water reached to their knees, lapped icily up their thighs, long before they reached the river proper. When they did, the legionaries slithered and slipped in the strengthening current and sometimes lost their footing, to bob screaming for a moment before they vanished, dragged down by their equipment.

As they reached closer to the northern bank, the unencumbered Britons darted in and out of the shallows, maiming, aiming slingshots and throwing spears, their chariots scything bloodily through the Roman ranks as these emerged in increasing disorganization on the foreshore. All the bellowings from centurions, the example of Vespasian and urgings from Aulus Plautius for the rest of his men to get across the river fast, were failing to stop escalating disaster from turning to bloody rout. Triumphant braying from the British horns, shouts of command, the desperate clash of metal on metal, the hiss of missiles, all began to betray an unmistakable whiff of panic.

In this extremity the Romans somehow held their nerve. Gradually small knots of men coalesced in the shallows, protecting their comrades as they waded to join them, stabbing the fearsome Roman short sword into their assailants’ unprotected bodies. The auxiliary horse lost heavily in a British counter-attack, but perhaps distracted the Britons from the crucible of battle – the place where the ford reached dry land, which must be held at all costs. Because slowly, slowly, the Romans were fighting their way towards solid ground and even a handful of armoured men established there would make their weight and discipline tell. As rank after rank arrived and the legionaries began to widen and strengthen their line, the constricted battlefield became their ally, trapping the British against a delta of steep-sided streams, preventing their warriors from using agility to compensate for their lack of armour.



Then from among the British a cry went up that their chief, Togodumnus, was killed, and all his personal following wavered in dismay. Caradoc, his brother, survived, but almost immediately afterwards took the decision to withdraw. The Roman advance, although still contained, was gaining momentum and he probably realized that his men, however brave, could not now stand against it. He must save what he could before the entire fighting strength of his tribe was destroyed. In Germany not many years before, three legions had been annihilated by native warriors fighting as guerrillas in the forest; the tale of the lost legions had shaken the entire Roman world and probably Caradoc had heard it. In the English midlands the forest was as black and trackless as any beyond the Rhine; he could reasonably hope to wait, and win on a more auspicious day.

Now it was a question of trying to get his men away, down that single causeway which curled across the surrounding marsh until it reached the safety of the forest, in distance little more than a mile away. But if the Romans could reach where that causeway left the island before Caradoc’s withdrawal was complete, everything was lost, because the legionaries would drive fast and hard down into the retreating Celts jammed inextricably along its length, and turn a rout into a massacre.

Yet the Romans never did quite reach it in time. Only those Britons who could not fight on because they were helpless in the crush seem to have retreated; the rest continued to fling themselves against armoured legionaries until they died. By the time Vespasian’s men leant on their swords as victors, Caradoc had gone.

Once Plautius realized this, he knew it was time to send for Claudius, elephants and all. Possibly he was glad of an excuse to consolidate his victory, since other hostile tribes still threatened his army on every side. Better still, he could blame delay on the Emperor, while remaining sure that everyone in Rome understood whose triumph this really was.

Caradoc’s retreat from the Thames must have been a fearful business, with everyone around him by now aware that this was not just another tribal battle to be revenged next season. It was something fearful, alien, as yet incomprehensible in its impact.

The causeway down which they retreated snaked from one foothold to the next until it reached a stream called Eia Burn, the first natural barrier since the Thames, but nothing, nothing at all compared to the defensive position they had lost: little more than a drain within a fenland wilderness, carrying clear water which was sweet to drink; a mercy for wounded and worn-out men. Beyond it, the Thames flood plain petered out in thickets and clearings where deer grazed off sufficient undergrowth for coarse grasses to grow. The causeway became a continuous path beyond Eia Burn and as soon as the ground dried out sufficiently, there was forest to offer sanctuary.3

Very likely Caradoc paused by the Eia and stood to offer encouragement at the place where steep stream banks dipped down to make his men’s passage easier, and they could scoop up water to slake their thirst. All their proud colours of the dawn were splattered with blood and mud, sweat had dissolved the lime out of their hair and plastered it in streaks across their faces, a further agony on open wounds. Some glanced over their shoulders, ashamed because their deeds had not been as valorous as their dreams, but thankful all the same when they saw that the Romans were not yet at their heels. Once through Eia Burn the Britons scattered to walk home, except for Caradoc and his close following. When he looked back and in the distance saw the dust of battle begin to settle on men who had honoured him, and died while he escaped, an enduring hatred of Rome burned in his heart. He would not give up. Never, never. An oath he kept for eight long years and in the end only treachery defeated him.

With time, the name of the Eia Burn would be slurred into T’iaburn, or Tyburn, and it runs today beneath the courtyard and south wing of Buckingham Palace; quite swiftly still after heavy rain. The place where its banks dipped down to make a crossing would soon be called Cow Ford and also lies beneath the palace site. A small stream, and an insignificant crossing place; but Cow Ford would become crucial to the development of the palace site.

It would be surprising if Aulus Plautius did not push an outpost forward along the causeway to the Eia Burn crossing, with orders to keep watch on the forest, for a few brief weeks making the Buckingham Palace site the frontier of Imperial Rome. Whether, some twelve weeks later, Emperor Claudius and some rather unwell elephants also came this way on their triumphal route to Colchester is impossible to say, but very likely they did; elephants could easily wade the Thames in summer and be a tremendous spectacle. Nor is there archaeological evidence of downstream settlement for another seven years.

There are traces of occupation from around this time on the triangular island at the north end of the Thames ford, which for the next thousand years or so would be known as Thorney Island and only later as Westminster, but with the abbey and Houses of Parliament now occupying much of it, excavation has necessarily been very patchy.

Cow Ford became the place where Roman Watling Street crossed Eia Burn. As Londinium grew on the present site of the City a muddy lane began to follow the north bank of the river from there towards Thorney, wherever this strand (which eventually became The Strand) normally stood above flood level. Inland of this, a huge semi-tidal swampland stretched, where only the old staked causeway remained passable in all but the foulest weather.

Once over Eia Burn, where the Romans probably built a timber bridge, Watling Street struck through forest to cross the Military Road (Oxford Street), near modern Marble Arch. From there it drove north-westwards, an artery of Roman civilization and supply route for her armies. Any guardpost at Cow Ford would have vanished as pacification pushed into the Midlands, but the crossing became a place many travellers knew, and cursed perhaps for its mud and dubious causeway in the wet. Probably they could buy a drink there, or a woman to keep out the chills. Then they remembered it with more pleasure, as a good place to rest before tackling the long haul north, or the hazards of crossing Thorney’s ford travelling south.
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1.    Felix Barker and Peter Jackson, London, 2000 Years of a City and its People, (London, Cassell, 1974), p. 3. There is a discussion on early Roman approaches to London by Peter Marsden in Roman London (Thames & Hudson, 1980). A Feb. 1995 Channel 4 ‘Timeteam’ investigation produced further evidence of a gravel bank and crossing point to Thorney Island.

2.    Dio Cassius, Roman History, Book LX, Suetonius, Lives of the First Twelve Caesars. See also Stopford Frere, Britannia (Routledge, 1987); R.J. Adam, Conquest of England (London, Hodder, 1968).

3.    N.J. Barton, Lost Rivers of London (London, Phoenix House, 1962).


CHAPTER 2

Queen with Handbag

During the fourth century, the whole Roman world was threatened as barbarian peoples broke through its frontiers. Troops were withdrawn to defend Rome, and outposts like Britain were left to fend for themselves. Watling Street was still used but coinage was replaced by barter and towns decayed, although the walled City of London probably retained an impoverished population and fisher-families continued to exist on Thorney Island. The causeway from Thorney to Cow Ford may have continued to be a useful access to the fruits and game of the forest, but when travellers were few and Thames marsh dwellers born light-footed, the hard work of shovelling mud to keep it in repair probably seemed pointless. Nimble leaps between gravel banks suited their needs well enough.

No contemporary source mentions an established religious community on Thorney/Westminster before the early eleventh century, when William of Malmesbury remarks that one existed, ‘To whom the endowments of the faithful provide no more than their daily bread’.1 The sneer of a man who belonged to an infinitely grander establishment is unmistakable. By then, six hundred years had passed since the Romans left. Untroubled by the disasters which so frequently afflicted the people crossing it, the Tyburn continued to flow from its source in the Hampstead Hills, through trees encroaching on the old Roman roads until it reached Cow Ford and curved to reach the Thames, enclosing Thorney Island in its delta. A variety of wild animals used the ford as a convenient drinking place: wolves, tree martens, bear, boar and deer. The calls of marsh birds echoed across the fen country surrounding it, which over this period increased in size as Eastern England continued to tip infinitesimally downward.

Very slowly, quite different institutions were established in England from those known to Rome, and London, too, was trading again by 730, when Bede wrote that it was ‘A mart for many peoples’.2 The most recent excavations, however, have proved that the London of this time centred on the Thames foreshore west of the City. Only a few smallholders still lived inside the old Roman walls and grew real corn on Cornhill; the modern name of Aldwych (‘Old Trade Settlement’) still remembers that distant Saxon past beneath what is now a very different part of London. And bustling though it was, Bede’s London had ceased to be an imperial city. Rather it became a frontier settlement, growing back to importance through all the excitements and casual violence which characterises pioneer outposts. Saxons, Mercians and Danes conquered it in turn. Then King Alfred of Wessex came and persuaded its citizens back inside the Roman walls, an ancient defence revitalized in desperate times. When Vikings came conquering in their turn, Londoners fought hard to hold these walls, decaying here and there. They defeated the first attack, but in 1012 the Vikings burned shipping, wharves and off-lying buildings, and murdered the Archbishop of Canterbury when they caught him outside the walls. Next time they came, they fastened grappling ropes to the old Roman timber bridge and rowed furiously downstream on the tide. One can imagine the people of London watching, horror-struck, as their link with the whole south country and main reason for their city’s revival, wavered, creaked, and finally tumbled into the Thames.



London lived by trade, there was no other reason for its existence. Without it the city died, and when the Vikings settled to the task of destroying everything in reach, its citizens decided that they must make what peace they could. Cnut, the Dane, became king in England as well as Denmark and by force of character continued the consolidation begun by Alfred and his successors, but it was order of the most basic kind. Heroic carousings in his hall remained the staple relaxation, where minor disrespects were punished by pelting the offender with greasy bones. Major disrespect bloodily terminated a life.

When Cnut died the succession was again disputed, the situation exacerbated by his son’s death at Lamb’s Hythe (Lambeth) during a drinking bout. Nor did matters settle when the ancient line of Wessex kings was restored in the person of Edward the Confessor, although it was during these years that English kings began occasionally to live on Thorney Island, and eddies from the current of their affairs were for the first time faintly felt in the wilderness around Cow Ford. The causeway was repaired, so that tired messengers could ride in haste to reach the king. Restless, volatile gatherings from the royal hall came this way to hunt, a pest to families beginning to settle on lands by then called Eia, or Eaia, after the burn or stream beside them, and which included the present palace grounds. Partly because the ground remained so wet, the settlers would have lived mostly on game and forest produce, eels and Thames fish, but during the ninth century a new name, Eiaburgh, suggests that enough people lived around the palace site for them to build a stockade, or burgh, in the hope of defending themselves, and with luck a few of their swine and cattle.

It is difficult to speak of a royal court at this time, since ruling was such a rudimentary art that in order to exercise it, kings needed only a string of baggage mules, some priests to act as scribes and confessors, and a collection of cronies whose advice they must consider, or whose persons they were wise to watch. This caravan administration ranged across the countryside, though it was sensible not to range so widely that the heartlands of a realm were tempted to forget their king’s existence, or were unable to locate him in a hurry.

For these reasons, in normal times an English king began to follow a reasonably set itinerary, a pattern William the Conqueror would alter and update, but also establish more firmly. Part of this pattern included keeping Whitsun at Westminster, and once kings regularly held a formal court or crown-wearing on Thorney, they made sure that the island’s only exit towards the forest belonged to them. Edward the Confessor is the first known owner of the palace site, but he probably inherited it with his crown.

Edward built his own fine hall on Thorney, and a sprawl of yards, huts and stables grew up around it. He also decided to build an abbey there, which could be described as Edward the Confessor’s peace dividend, and for the next five hundred years its history and that of the palace site become inextricably intertwined. Edward was thrifty over money and this one major capital investment of his reign grew out of a decade when the country was mostly free from war. Building work began around 1063 and was pushed forward at a phenomenal rate for a project powered by muscle. Even so, a great deal remained to be done after his death, and during the centuries of its existence the community of Westminster would rarely be free of anxiety over how to pay for building works at the abbey.

But if Edward is the earliest identifiable ghost in the throng inhabiting the palace site, he is also the most difficult to reach across such a gulf of time. Contemporary opinions are contradictory, and coloured by nostalgia for an imagined golden age before conquest by Normans, which followed within months of his death. His later canonization as a saint confuses the picture further, since he does not shine out of the chronicles as a particularly saintly man. At the same time it is difficult not to accept Edward the Confessor as a symbol of something; most notably for transmitting continuity. For this reason alone, it seems appropriate that he should be the first recorded owner of the palace site.



Edward himself was culturally a Norman, in blood a descendant of Wessex kings. He faced enormous difficulties throughout his reign and yet by the end of it England was regarded as a prosperous realm, and he passed it on as a single whole. He lacked real power and was reduced to speaking belligerently while rarely fighting even a minor skirmish; habits which attracted contempt but helped him to weave a devious course past other more warlike men. He struggled to recover and then maintain his royal rights, but spent most of his life hen-pecked by women; he had no children, and rhymsters made sly jokes about his sex life. He was seriously religious and annoyed his followers by not allowing them to chatter during mass, but there is little evidence to suggest he was particularly ascetic. He loved hunting with a passion shared by most English kings, his court ate and drank its way through the countryside, and the miracles he is said to have performed come over as little more than minstrels’ tales. He may even have possessed a sense of humour, a rare virtue among reigning monarchs. Above all, he was a survivor; one of the very few contemporary kings who died in bed. His abbey still lives, and halls on the site of the one he built at Westminster were inhabited by his successors until Henry VIII decided that someone else’s home in Whitehall offered him more modern comforts. Then Henry generously gave Westminster’s fire-damaged remnants to parliament as their permanent meeting place.

The strong-minded women who put Edward in the unenviable position of being an eleventh-century king visibly reliant on skirts behind the throne, were his mother, Emma of Normandy, and Edith, his wife. Edith was rich, beautiful and greedy, the daughter of Edward’s most dangerous subject, Earl Godwin. Either as her dower or as a later gift from the king, she received the lands beyond T’Eiaburn,3 called Eia or Eiaburgh, as her personal property, the first of several women to own the palace site. To be exact, she did not quite own it all. Because the Tyburn nowadays flows beneath the palace and Edith was only given land to the west of the stream, part remained in the king’s possession until he gave it to Westminster Abbey.

Queen Edith was an interesting and combative personality. While much of her husband’s character remains elusive and alien to modern minds, she fairly leaps out of records written nine hundred years ago. Some she probably commissioned, since Edith courted valuable publicity; more independent writers were doubtful about a woman with power in high places, but where all agree is on her intelligence and importance.

Her father, Earl Godwin, was a man of obscure origins only recently ennobled, probably as a reward for family treacheries, and whose ambitions remained limitless. Probably he had murdered King Edward’s own brother, and one of his sons, Swein, had only recently been forgiven for raping an abbess and murdering his cousin. The bishops who consecrated Edith as queen must have had serious reservations about the ability of a woman with such blood in her veins to keep the oath they administered to her ‘by the power of God to bring the barbarous to a knowledge of truth’.4

At the time of her marriage Edith was about twenty years old, half the age of her husband, and the chronicler is probably not lying when he describes her as fair and beautiful, since the Godwins were notable for physique. Like the rest of her kin, she seems to have been strongly acquisitive, but more skilled than they at dissembling her intentions. For her, soft words paid the best dividend.

The wedding feast was splendid, full of ‘dance and frisk and leap’, but as the drinking grew deeper she withdrew from the king’s hall to eat with abbesses and nuns, and over the years people often remarked with surprise (or cynicism) on her modest behaviour. It was not a quality they expected in a Godwin, especially when many of her other actions suggested that she shared their fires only just beneath the skin. But Edith could afford gestures which cost her very little. At court she never sat beside the king each time he invited her to join him, sitting instead at his feet. She embroidered his clothes and at least in the early years was discreet over where and how she offered him advice. That she did offer advice which increasingly he took, gradually became clear.

It must have been a severe shock to a young woman raised among a lusty, violent and brawling family, whose father bred sons wholesale on his wife and mistresses, to discover on her wedding night that her husband was sexually cold. As one of the more pious commentators put it, ‘She was delivered to the royal bridal chamber with ceremonial rejoicing, but Merciful God … kept the king all the days of his life in purity of flesh’.5 There is no way of knowing whether Edward was clinically impotent at the commencement of his marriage. He may have hidden sexual malfunction behind a smokescreen of celibate piety; he may simply have been uninterested in sex, perhaps because he suspected himself of being sterile. On the other hand, he does not appear the kind of man who would be bullied into a marriage he knew he could not, or did not wish to, consummate. There is no reason to believe that Edith possessed a less passionate nature than the rest of her kin, and many reasons to believe that she did, and knowingly to embark on an insultingly unsatisfied relationship with a woman who possessed a gang of powerful and dangerously fierce relatives was to invite disaster.

What is certain is that there were no children from the marriage, and that rumours grew up around it. As the chronicler delicately says, ‘She kept the secret of the king’s chastity of which she had learned, and kept those counsels that she knew’.6 This is hindsight, however. There is no evidence that Edward was actively homosexual, and his performance in bed could have been adequate during the early years of their marriage; only with childlessness and perhaps a further decline in his abilities over the years did apathy towards physical relations become sexual neglect. For King Edward, this same period of time was skilfully used to turn sneers into respect, since chastity once offered to God was regarded as a noteworthy sacrifice.

For Edith, life must often have seemed enormously hard, and after Edward’s death, William of Malmesbury wrote a remarkably even-handed obituary of their relationship:



The king’s treatment of his wife had been neither to remove her from his bed nor to act the man with her. But whether he did this because of his hatred for her family (which he wisely dissembled at the time) or because of his love of chastity, I really do not know.7



One snapshot of Edward and Edith’s married life exists, a remarkable survival which shows two people at apparent ease with each other, although Edith’s skill in public relations is revealing. Sometime around 1045, they were visiting Abingdon Abbey together when Edith remarked that the children being fed there had only bread to eat. In reply, she was told that the abbey could rarely afford to give them anything else, and she called across to Edward, asking if he would assign some revenue so the children might occasionally eat better. He laughed and turned the request aside, saying he would be delighted, but only if someone offered him something to give. You can sense his irritation at being put at public disadvantage: people everywhere existed mostly on bread, and abbeys were rich enough to give out meat occasionally if they chose. As he had reason to know, since the Abbot of Abingdon doubled as his personal jeweller. Give to one specious mendicant and you would find yourself giving to them all.

But Edith’s reply is sharp and instant. She has a village she would be delighted to offer, if the king will allow her. He will, and she does: who wins this particular encounter is left to the imagination. Edith lost a village, and she was a passionate collector of land. The king lost in the estimation of the monkly chronicler, but perhaps not with his hard-headed henchmen.8

In essence this story accords with an overall impression of both their characters. Edward may later have invested a great deal of money in building Westminster Abbey, but the provision he made for its future revenues by endowment was notably mean, causing endless headaches for future abbots there. Only a few years after the incident at Abingdon, Edith showed herself capable of fraudulently dispossessing Peterborough Abbey of an estate and eventually she owned lands, including Eia, which yielded rents amounting to a fifth of the king’s own income. Yet she skilfully succeeded in retaining what one cannot help feeling was an unjustified reputation for generosity. Possibly she enjoyed the very real pleasures of giving relatively small sums. There must also be the suspicion that she did not grudge spending where she could gain credit for it. Her wish to acquire land might be unbounded, but what she actually wanted it for was as a stepping-stone to influence.

Her ostentatious servility before the king at court has similar psychological roots: she wanted people to remark on her behaviour, and saw no point in deferences which would pass unnoticed. Edward himself disliked showy gestures and grumbled about wearing the rich clothes she insisted on embroidering for him. Since on less formal occasions she may have behaved towards him almost with arrogance, as at Abingdon, he must have been unbearably irritated when people remarked on his wife’s meek manners while the chroniclers were watching.

Storm clouds began to gather soon after that day at Abingdon. There was no open feud between the king and his father-in-law, Earl Godwin, rather a private trial of strength made more bitter by the unbridled conduct of Godwin’s sons. Edward usually hid his anger, but his modern biographer considers that he was the kind of man who could have relieved his feelings on his wife, the only Godwin at his mercy. Around 1047 her name disappears as witness to his charters, previously a sign of her presence wherever the court travelled. By this time too, their childlessness must have worsened the relationship between them; the explanation that he was too saintly to copulate circulated later, during the years of increasing separation. As differences flared with the Godwin clan, Edward made more use of Norman advisers too, and may even have promised his throne to Duke William, as at least being preferable to the Godwins.
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This section of the Bayeux Tapestry shows Edward the Confessor’s body being carried from his hall at Westminster into the abbey for burial. A workman fixes a weathervane, possibly to show that construction is nearly complete, and the hand of God affirms consecration.

Matters limped along until 1051, when Earl Godwin refused a royal order to punish Dover for inhospitality to some visiting Flemings, and suddenly everyone’s patience snapped in a way which shows how great had been the underlying strain. People galloped helter-skelter to gather up their followings, but Godwin soon discovered that his family was so heartily distrusted, and the prospect of civil war so much disliked, that the other great earls preferred to back the king and not worry too much about the rights or wrongs of Dover. At first Godwin did not believe it. He had chosen a popular cause on which to rebel; surely ordinary people would follow him even if the great earls did not? At one stage he was camped with his followers at Southwark while Edward waited with his at Westminster, offering an impartial judgement at his Court. Godwin hesitated, but with London showing no sign of actively supporting him, he felt unable to risk his person in the king’s hands and fled the country with his sons.

This represented a stunning victory for Edward. He had tripped over arrogant Godwins ever since he became king and now he was free of them; he gained financially too, his wealth doubled overnight as their estates fell forfeit into his hand. There was only one small consequence of their downfall he regretted, and that was the expulsion soon afterwards of his jeweller, his old friend the Abbot of Abingdon, whom he had been in the process of conjuring into position as Bishop of London. The Normans Edward had gathered around him over the years to help him oppose the Godwins included clergy, and they had long been shocked by English unorthodoxy in religion; to be more precise, they considered the Bishopric of London should be held by a Norman. Quite definitely not by a man who designed gewgaws for the ladies of the Court, and traded on his own account. Unfortunately for Edward, this particular priest, whose splendidly pagan name of Spearhavoc suggests that the Normans had a point, took with him when he fled to safety not only all the money he could find within the London diocesan coffers, but also the jewels and precious metals entrusted to him by the king as raw materials from which to make a new crown for England.

In the general upheaval, Queen Edith was banished to a nunnery in Hampshire and her lands probably joined those of the rest of her relations, back in the king’s hands. The Eia/Eiaburgh lands therefore briefly belonged again to Edward the Confessor.

For a few months Edward enjoyed the only time in his reign when he was free from masterful women, and then the Godwins were back, at the head of a strong force and determined to recoup their losses. The only brother missing was Swein, the most violent of them all, who had suddenly become alarmed by the state of his soul and decided to walk barefoot to Jerusalem. When last seen he was said to be walking fast, in order to be back and start caring for his earthly interests again.

The invasion force landed in Kent, where Earl Godwin found strong support. Edward’s foreign friends were much disliked and the concept of murdering a few of them with impunity, as Dover had done, looked more attractive than ever, but rather surprisingly, considering the times and temperaments involved, there seems to have been a general disinclination to embark on civil war. When Edward realized the reluctance of his following, he was said to have been mad with anger over the necessity of making terms. His leading Norman counsellors fled in their turn and the Godwins received back most of their lands, a process eased all round by news that Swein had perished on his walk to Jerusalem.

Earl Godwin died only a few months later, leaving another son, Harold, to become earl in his place. Queen Edith returned to Court as part of the settlement, but some years passed before her name reappears regularly on charters. Nevertheless, her influence was soon remarked upon, whereas her grace and good deeds had been of more interest to chroniclers before. She recovered ownership of Eia and may have put in hand the first tentative drainage works there. It also became much clearer that she had inherited all of her father’s light-fingered attitudes to church lands. At least two royal clerks obtained bishoprics by pledging her a slice of their prospective diocesan estate, and in 1060 came her brush with the Abbot of Peterborough, when she extorted payment of twenty gold marks and quantities of church plate as her price for abandoning a fairly spurious claim to property donated to his church. It is suggestive, too, that her dresser, Matilda, towards the end of Edward’s reign married a rich thegn; as if anyone with the chance to whisper in the Queen’s ear by then could market their personal value successfully.

In other ways Edith’s influence was more positive. She was seen by many as a go-between, a courageous and cheerful peacemaker with her quarrelsome family in the king’s interest, a role on which the future of the realm depended. ‘By her advice, peace laps the kingdom on every side and warns the nations against breaking their bonds,’ wrote one observer, and another adds the highest compliment of all in those pre-feminist days, ‘She was as intelligent as a man, well able to distinguish good from evil’.9

The portrait of the first female owner of the Buckingham Palace lands which emerges from these accounts is complex. Edith is often shown beside or behind the throne, offering advice to the king, who by these last years was perhaps wearying of the burdens of his office. She is equal with his great earls, an exceptional position for a consort in any age, and truly extraordinary for a woman who had failed to produce the longed-for heir. She greeted guests in her own right, flew into a rage if she suspected a snub, interfered with plans and officiously set about teaching scholars their grammar. In spite of praise for her peacemaking, she often sided with her brothers in disputes, and one of the king’s most awkward problems became how to satisfy his queen’s greed on their behalf without instantly antagonizing everyone else.

In these latter years Edith became dangerously attached to her brother Tostig, an able, passionate and brutal man, but personable and decisive, characteristics which may have appealed to her frustrated sexuality. At her insistence he was given the Earldom of Northumbria, thereby significantly extending Godwin possessions, but his rule there was so tyrannical that it soon provoked revolt. The most serious allegation made against Edith is that during her time of greatest power at Court she connived with Tostig to murder a Northumbrian noble called Gospatric, who was attending the king’s Christmas feast and therefore protected by his special peace. It is not clear whether Gospatric was a potential or active rebel hoping to gain Tostig’s earldom for himself, or came to petition the king about the evils of Tostig’s rule. Either way, Tostig was the beneficiary of his death.

In 1065 the Northumbrians rose in revolt while Tostig was away hunting with the king. Even more seriously for Edward, those of his earls who were not of Godwin blood flatly refused to fight in order to restore a man they detested. Eventually even Tostig’s own brother, Harold, deserted him. Possibly he was already calculating his chances of becoming king when Edward died, which would be greatly improved if he could cut loose from his family’s excesses. Tostig was forced into exile, and never forgave Harold for what he regarded as the worst treachery of all: abandoning blood-kin in their time of need. Away in Scandinavia he began to plot an invasion, and by his actions would eventually lose Harold his throne and the English their independence.

When Tostig fled, Edith was inconsolable. The change in her caused astonishment and dismay, and the charge that she had become deeply involved in Tostig’s cause must be reinforced by her behaviour during the final months of her husband’s rule. Precisely because she was by then acknowledged to be a power behind his throne, the chroniclers paid as much attention to her state of mind during this time as they did to Edward’s. After all, he had several times reacted in the same way, first raging against fate and then making the best terms with it that he could. To the eleventh-century mind, such behaviour was both inglorious and not particularly interesting. Edith was different. She was renowned for her resilience and respected for her wiliness, known to be hungry for power and possessions. No one expected her simply to give up.

Edith by this time was aged just over forty, an unsatisfied, strong-minded, quick-tempered woman. Possibly a first-class bitch. If she had had lovers, they were snatched affairs the chroniclers failed to discover, which left her passions stronger than before. If the king had ever bedded her, it was long in the past; nowadays he lay beside her like an indifferent, taunting monk. The emotional void inside her had been eased by power, but nothing cured it until Tostig came to Court. Instead, she had become harder with the years, more grasping, soured by the struggle for influence. For Tostig’s sake she may have connived at murder.

It is commonplace for a certain kind of criminal charisma to take advantage of starved emotions, and there are indications that this is what happened between Queen Edith and her young brother. When Tostig fled, Edith knew enough about ruling kingdoms to understand that it would not be easy for him ever to return; whether she realized that through their schemings the whole of England would be delivered up to an invader is uncertain. Perhaps she no longer cared. As for the Court, nearly everyone trembled for the future when they saw a woman they believed to be tougher than iron, shaken day after day by unheeding storms of grief.10

On the Christmas Day following Tostig’s exile, Westminster Abbey was dedicated to St Peter, but the atmosphere at Court was filled with too many forebodings for even a great festival to be truly enjoyable. The king was ill and unable to attend the dedication; he lived to hear the first chants of his new Benedictine foundation sound softly across the wintry spaces separating his hall from the new abbey, but died a week later.

Queen Edith sat in her usual place at his feet during the vigil before and after his soul’s passing, and perhaps genuinely mourned his death; they had, after all, been companions for a long time. Beyond her grief would have been fear, because all the life she knew and which mattered to her might now be lost with him.

Harold was crowned next day, almost certainly in Westminster Abbey, which made him the first king to be consecrated there, and Edith was left on one side even more quickly than she feared. From being watched, she was disregarded. As others have learned since, nothing disappears so completely or so rapidly as loss of political power.
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A detail from the Bayeux Tapestry depicting Harold, son of Godwin, who was briefly crowned King of the English in 1066.

This seems to have jolted her into recovery from nervous collapse. It is not clear how she tried to help Tostig in his ambition to invade England and seize the crown, but during the year of 1066 ‘with prayers and stratagems’11 that is what she tried to do. As soon as she heard that Tostig was gathering a fleet together, Edith is recorded as secretly opposing Harold, and the inference is that she tried to canvass support for Tostig, but unsuccessfully. Harold was more generally liked than the rest of his family and the great earls understood that unity was vital against possible attack on two fronts, from Tostig and from William of Normandy. Probably an otherwise male-dominated gathering of advisers was relieved to be rid of an interfering and bossy female from their counsels, notwithstanding that they had recently respected her judgement and authority. It is easy to reflect on a modern parallel.

During the dangerous, brooding summer of 1066, while a great comet blazed across the heavens at night and people felt their entire world poised on a sword-edge of uncertainty, the lands at Eia remained in Edith’s ownership. There were still only three ways to ride out from Thorney island: south across Thames ford, and this had grown deeper and more dangerous in recent years; east by the Strand banks to the City, or north along the causeway to Cow Ford. This last would have been Edith’s favourite, since her estate of Eia lay that way and she was the kind of woman who loved her own land with a fierce possessive passion. This northern route passed the clutter and chaos above which the abbey’s new-cut surfaces glittered in the sun, before reaching across bright green marsh grass where birds rose from stagnant pools in a whirr of wings. A few jog-trot paces away from Westminster and everything changed into emptiness, solitude and space. Only some huts would have been distantly in sight ahead, on Eia Burn’s – Tyburn’s – further bank.

When Edward was alive he, too, often came this way to hunt; especially in recent years when he had stayed longer and more frequently at Westminster, while the abbey was being built. Grooms, kennellers and spearmen found Eia’s fields a useful place to gather, laughing and cursing together under an early orange sun while great oaks close by stood black against the sky; hounds tangled with the horses as they yearned in circles to taste blood, all waiting until King Edward and Queen Edith rode to join them down the causeway. Then the rams’ horns wailed and everyone swarmed into the forest, Edith following more decorously; she enjoyed hunting, but liked even better to drop a word here, encourage a supplicant there, reel in her delicate schemings with a smile, a frown, a turn of the head.

Edith’s manor of Eia (the term ‘manor’ was just coming into use, and indicated a more or less independent unit of ownership with feudal undertones) stretched north into the trees as far as the old Roman Military Road (modern Oxford Street), and south to the Thames. The future palace site at Cow Ford was roughly equidistant between these boundaries, and also marked where flood plain became potentially cultivable. Any traveller standing there in 1066 and looking with narrowed eyes into flat September sunlight, would have seen only an occasional islet among the reeds between there and the river: a hut, an orchard, a few tiny closes of pasture on some of them. But around and beyond the palace site small fields were advancing into the undergrowth, gradually to be made richer by oxen and pigs: Westminster sucked in food now the abbey and Court provided work for a great part of the year.

All through that same summer of 1066 Edith’s hopes had remained fixed on Tostig, but although she regained enough calm to try and help him to victory, she may have sensed that this time hope would be denied. The Court followed Harold out to muster men against both Tostig and Duke William: by September Westminster was empty, empty, waiting for whoever would return in triumph. Only the bulk of Edward’s new abbey was left, sailing alone across a bleak horizon like some abandoned Noah’s ark.



NOTES




1.    William of Malmesbury, Gesta Regum Anglorum (ed. W. Stubbs, Rolls Series 1887–9) refers to a monasteriolum housing an insignificant dozen monks; the Vita Edwardi Regis (anon, but see Ch. 4, n. 6 below) to a small community struggling to provide its daily bread.

2.    Bede, Ecclesiastical History of the English People (trs. Judith McClure and Roger Collins, World Classics, OUP), p. 74, where the translators have replaced the evocative word ‘mart’ with ‘emporium’, which sounds oddly Victorian.

3.    Recorded in Domesday Book as held of Queen Edith by William the Chamberlain at the time of Conquest, 1066.

4.    The best-known chronicles are Vita Edwardi Regis, written by a monk in Edith’s employ and later extensively rewritten and falsified (see Ch. 4, no. 6); the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle and William of Malmesbury. All have to be carefully gleaned for direct and indirect information. Frank Barlow, Edward the Confessor (London, Methuen, 1970) is invaluable for the period immediately before the Conquest.

5.    Frank Barlow (ed.), Vita Edwardi Regis (Nelson’s Medieval Texts, 1962), p. 14.

6.    Ibid. Probably a later addition.

7.    William of Malmesbury.

8.    J. Stevenson (ed.), Chronicon Monasterii de Abingdon, Rolls Series 1858.

9.    William of Poitiers (Classiques de la France, 1952), pp. 166–8.

10.  Barlow, Vita Edwardi Regis, pp. 53–4.

11.  William of Poitiers, pp. 166–8.
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